
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA                                       IN THE GENERAL COURT OF JUSTICE 

                                                                                                        SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION 

COUNTY OF WAKE                                                                                  11-CVS-_____ 

 

   

MARGARET DICKSON; ALISHA CHISOLM; ETHEL 

CLARK; MATTHEW A. MCLEAN; MELISSA LEE 

ROLLIZO; C. DAVID GANTT; VALARIA TRUITT; ALICE 

GRAHAM UNDERHILL; ARMIN JANCIS; REBECCA 

JUDGE; ZETTIE WILLIAMS; TRACEY BURNS-VANN; 

LAWRENCE CAMPBELL; O. EVERETTE ROBINSON, JR.; 

LINDA GARROU; HAYES MCNEILL; JIM SHAW; SIDNEY 

E. DUNSTON; ALMA ADAMS; R. STEVE BOWDEN; 

JASON EDWARD COLEY; KARL BERTRAND FIELDS; 

PAMLYN STUBBS; DON VAUGHAN; BOB ETHERIDGE; 

GEORGE GRAHAM, JR.; THOMAS M. CHUMLEY; AISHA 

DEW; GENEAL GREGORY; VILMA LEAKE; RODNEY W. 

MOORE; BRENDA MARTIN STEVENSON; JANE 

WHITLEY; I.T. (“TIM”) VALENTINE; LOIS WATKINS; 

RICHARD JOYNER; MELVIN C. MCLAWHORN; 

RANDALL S. JONES; BOBBY CHARLES TOWNSEND; 

ALBERT KIRBY; TERRENCE WILLIAMS; NORMAN C. 

CAMP; MARY H. POOLE; STEPHEN T. SMITH; and 

PHILIP A. BADDOUR, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

ROBERT RUCHO, in his official capacity only as the 

Chairman of the North Carolina Senate Redistricting 

Committee; DAVID LEWIS, in his official capacity only as the 

Chairman of the North Carolina House of Representatives 

Redistricting Committee; NELSON DOLLAR, in his official 

capacity only as the Co-Chairman of the North Carolina House 

of Representatives Redistricting Committee; JERRY 

DOCKHAM, in his official capacity only as the Co-Chairman 

of the North Carolina House of Representatives Redistricting 

Committee; PHILIP E. BERGER, in his official capacity only 

as the President Pro Tempore of the North Carolina Senate; 

THOM TILLIS, in his official capacity only as the Speaker of 

the North Carolina House of Representatives; THE STATE 

BOARD OF ELECTIONS; and THE STATE OF NORTH 

CAROLINA, 

Defendants. 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

(Three-Judge Court Pursuant 

To N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-267.1) 

   



2 

Plaintiffs, complaining of Defendants, say and allege: 

1. This is an action to declare unconstitutional and enjoin the implementation of 

legislation recently enacted by the North Carolina General Assembly redistricting the State 

Senate (2011 S.L. 402), the State House (2011 S.L. 404), and Congress (2011 S.L. 403) 

(collectively, the “Legislation”): 

SUMMARY OF CLAIMS 

2. In enacting this Legislation, the legislature transgressed limitations on its powers 

established by the North Carolina and United States Constitutions.  Initially, the General 

Assembly violated the Supreme Court‟s holding in Stephenson v. Bartlett, 355 N.C. 354, 386 

(2002) (“Stephenson”) that the legislature must strictly comply with North Carolina‟s 

constitutional prohibition against dividing counties when redistricting the State Senate and State 

House, and that the legislature may deviate from that prohibition “only to the extent necessary to 

comply with federal law.”  The newly-enacted State Senate map splits 19 counties, and the State 

House district map splits 49 counties, but proposed alternative plans by Democratic 

representatives would have split only 14 counties for the State Senate and 44 counties for the 

State House.  The number of counties split by the General Assembly in its plans is far in excess 

of the number of counties required to be divided by one-person, one-vote and voting rights 

requirements. 

3. One example (of many) is Senate District 5, which, as drawn in the new Senate 

plan, consists of Greene County, as well as parts of Pitt County, Lenoir County, and Wayne 

County.  Senate District 5 is shown in the following map, compared to a competing map 

proposed by Senator Nesbitt:
1
 

                                                 
1
 All maps set forth in this Complaint may be reviewed on the North Carolina General Assembly‟s web 

site at http://www.ncleg.net/gis/randr07/redistricting.html. 
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            2011 Map of Senate District 5                          Sen. Nesbitt‟s Map of Senate District 5 

              (Newly-Enacted Version)                                          (Proposed but not Enacted) 

           

     
 

4. The General Assembly also transgressed constitutional limits on its powers and 

compromised the integrity of the voting process by arbitrarily and capriciously splitting hundreds 

of precincts and combining pieces of those split  precincts to construct districts.  One example 

(of many) is Senate District 32 in Forsyth County.  In the following map, split precincts are 

shown in red, and non-split precincts appear in gray: 
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Split Precincts in Senate District 32 

 

 
 

Selected Detailed Views of Split Precincts in Senate District 32 

 

 

                                     

 

            

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. In unnecessarily dividing precincts (as well as towns, cities, and counties) in the 

enactment of the Legislation, Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 2 of the 

Constitution, which provides that that “all government of right originates from the people, is 
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founded upon their will only, and is instituted solely for the good of the whole.”  The wholesale 

splitting of precincts is not “for the good of the whole.”  Moreover, the unnecessary division of 

existing political subdivisions (including precincts, but also extending to towns, cities, and 

counties) violates Plaintiffs‟ right to be free from arbitrary and capricious legislation guaranteed 

by the North Carolina Constitution.  See N.C. Const. art. I, § 19 and art. VI, § 1. 

6. Perhaps most egregiously, the General Assembly has isolated the State‟s Black 

citizens in a small number of districts.  The plans for 50 new Senate districts and 120 new House 

districts concentrate about half the state‟s 2.2 million Black residents in 10 Senate districts and in 

25 House districts.  The process, which is colloquially known as “packing,” violates the Equal 

Protection Clauses of the United States Constitution and the North Carolina Constitution.  One 

example (of many) of voter packing is found in Senate District 21.  The current Senator from 

District 21 is Eric Mansfield of Fayetteville, who is Black.  Senator Mansfield won the last 

election with 67% of the vote.  Despite Senator Mansfield‟s wide margin of victory in 2010, the 

General Assembly in 2011 chose to “pack” more Black voters into Senator Mansfield‟s district, 

increasing the Black voting age population of Senate District 21 from 44.93% under the prior 

plan, to more than 52% under the General Assembly‟s 2011 plan.  Moreover, Senate District 21 

now suffers from all the deficiencies already discussed above (including split precincts), as 

shown by the following comparison: 
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Senate District 21 (2003-2010)                  Senate District 21 (Newly-Enacted Version) 

  

      
 

7. The new Legislation further violates other constitutional redistricting principles, 

such as compactness.  One example (of many) is Senate District 14, in Wake County.  For 

historical perspective, the Court may refer to Stephenson v. Bartlett, 357 N.C. 301, 310 (2004) 

(“Stephenson II”), in which the Supreme Court declared unconstitutional the General Assembly‟s 

2002 maps,
2
 including Senate District 14.   The North Carolina Supreme Court described the 

constitutional flaws in the 2002 district as follows: 

[Senate] District 14 in Wake County is not compact.  It is 

distinguished by 4 major appendages. Beginning in the northern 

tip, it moves southeast with jutting points that end in a downward 

facing cul-de-sac that embraces a portion of this plan's District 36.  

The boundary of District 14 then meanders toward the northeast, 

turns to the southeast and extends a curved “arm” that carves out a 

“bay” in the side of District 6. 

 

8. The new version of Senate District 14 is very similar to (but even less compact 

than) the unconstitutional 2002 version.  The perimeter or “shape” of the unconstitutional 2002  

of Senate District 14 simply appears to have been moved to the east and rotated slightly, with a 

much longer “arm” and “bay”: 

                                                 
2
 The 2002 North Carolina House and Senate plan was known as the “Fewer Divided Counties Plan” and 

was enacted after the Supreme Court‟s decision in Stephenson.  The Fewer Divided Counties Plan was 

never used in an election, because it was declared unconstitutional in the Stephenson II litigation.  In 

2003, the General Assembly created a North Carolina House and Senate map used from 2004-2010. 
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              2002 Map of Senate District 14                          2011 Map of Senate District 14 

    (Declared Unconstitutional in Stephenson II)                   (Newly-Enacted Version) 

 

            
 

9. There is no significant difference between the oddly-shaped new version of 

Senate District 14, and the 2002 version that was declared unconstitutional by the North Carolina 

Supreme Court.  Moreover, the lack of compactness in the new version of Senate District 14 is 

plainly illustrated by comparing the 2011 district with the district ultimately approved in 2003 

and used in the 2004 through 2010 elections: 

 
 

10. Plaintiffs set forth their claims in detail hereinafter. 
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PLAINTIFFS 

11. Plaintiff Margaret Dickson is a registered voter in Cumberland County residing at 

501 Valley Road in Fayetteville.  Under the challenged legislation, Ms. Dickson is assigned to 

House District 44, Senate District 21, and Congressional District 2. 

12. Plaintiff Alisha Chisolm is a registered voter in Cumberland County residing at 

1885 Cascade Street in Fayetteville.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House 

District 43, Senate District 21, and Congressional District 4. 

13. Plaintiff Ethel Clark is a registered voter in Cumberland County residing at 1425 

Milton Street in Spring Lake.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House District 42, 

Senate District 21, and Congressional District 2. 

14. Plaintiff Matthew A. McLean is a registered voter in Cumberland County residing 

at 2910 Hermitage Avenue in Fayetteville.  Under the challenged legislation, Mr. McLean is 

assigned to House District 44, Senate District 19, and Congressional District 2. 

15. Plaintiff  Melissa Lee Rollizo is a registered voter in Cumberland County residing 

at 5304 Blanco Drive in Parkton.  Under the challenged plans, she resides in House District 45, 

Senate District 19, and Congressional District 2. 

16. Plaintiff C. David Gantt is a registered voter in Buncombe County residing at 28 

Troy Hill Road in Fletcher.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to House District 116, 

Senate District 48, and Congressional District 10. 

17. Plaintiff Valaria Truitt is a registered voter in Craven County residing at 2407 

Brices Creek Road in New Bern.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House District 

3, Senate District 2, and Congressional District 3. 



9 

18. Plaintiff Alice Graham Underhill is a registered voter in Craven County residing 

at 3910 Country Club Road in New Bern.  Under the challenged plans, Ms. Underhill resides in 

House District 10, Senate District 2, and Congressional District 3. 

19. Plaintiff Armin Jancis is a registered voter in Duplin County residing at 512 East 

Chelly Street in Warsaw.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to House District 21, 

Senate District 10, and Congressional District 7.  

20. Plaintiff Rebecca Judge is a registered voter in Duplin County residing at 1401 

Siuth NC Hwy. 41/111 in Beulaville.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House 

District 4, Senate District 10, and Congressional District 7.  

21. Plaintiff Zettie Williams is a registered voter in Duplin County residing at 770 S. 

Old NC 903 Hwy. in Magnolia.  Under the challenged plans, Ms. Williams is assigned to House 

District 21, Senate District 10, and Congressional District 7. 

22. Plaintiff Tracey Burns-Vann is a registered voter in Durham County residing at 5 

Stoneleigh Court in Durham.  Under the challenged plans, Ms. Burns-Vann is assigned to House 

District 31, Senate District 20, and Congressional District 1. 

23. Plaintiff Lawrence Campbell is a registered voter in Durham County residing at 

2105 Duncan Street in Durham.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to House District 29, 

Senate District 20, and Congressional District 1. 

24. Plaintiff O. Everette Robinson, Jr. is a registered voter in Durham County residing 

at 8 Chancery Place in Durham.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to House District 30, 

Senate District 22, and Congressional District 4. 
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25. Plaintiff Linda Garrou is a registered voter in Forsyth County residing at 3910 

Camerille Farm Road in Winston-Salem.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House 

District 72, Senate District 31, and Congressional District 5. 

26. Plaintiff Hayes McNeill is a registered voter in Forsyth County residing at 1118 S. 

Hawthorne Road in Winston-Salem.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to House 

District 75, Senate District 31, and Congressional District 5. 

27. Plaintiff Jim Shaw is a registered voter in Forsyth County residing at 3471 

Cumberland Road in Winston-Salem.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. Shaw is assigned to 

House District 79, Senate District 32, and Congressional District 12. 

28. Plaintiff Rev. Sidney E. Dunston is a registered voter in Franklin County residing 

at 129 George Leonard Road in Louisburg.  Under the challenged plans, Rev. Dunston is 

assigned to House District 7, Senate District 18, and Congressional District 1. 

29. Plaintiff Alma Adams is a registered voter in Guilford County residing at 2109 

Liberty Valley Road in Greensboro.  Under the challenged plans, Ms. Adams is assigned to 

House District 58, Senate District 28, and Congressional District 12. 

30. Plaintiff R. Steve Bowden is a registered voter in Guilford County residing at 

3504 Glen Forest Court in Greensboro.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to House 

District 59, Senate District 26, and Congressional District 6. 

31. Plaintiff  Jason Edward Coley is a registered voter in Guilford County residing at 

2986 Collington Court in Jamestown.  Under the challenged plans, he resides in House District 

62, Senate District 27, and Congressional District 6. 
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32. Plaintiff Dr. Karl Bertrand Fields is a registered voter in Guilford County residing 

at 902 Carolina Street in Greensboro.  Under the challenged plans, Dr. Fields is assigned to 

House District 57, Senate District 28,  and Congressional District 6. 

33. Plaintiff Pamlyn Stubbs is a registered voter in Guilford County residing at 2621 

Darden Road in Greensboro.  Under the challenged plans, Ms. Stubbs is assigned to House 

District 60, Senate District 28, and Congressional District 12. 

34. Plaintiff Don Vaughan is a registered voter in Guilford County residing at 902 

Sunset Drive in Greensboro.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. Vaughan is assigned to House 

District 58, Senate District 26, and Congressional District 6. 

35. Plaintiff  Bob Etheridge is a registered voter in Harnett County residing at 1106 

Summerville-Mamers Road in Lillington.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. Etheridge is assigned 

to House District 53, Senate District 12, and Congressional District 4. 

36. Plaintiff George Graham, Jr. is a registered voter in Lenoir county residing at 419 

Duggins Drive in Kinston.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. Graham is assigned to House 

District 12, Senate District 5, and Congressional District 1. 

37. Plaintiff Thomas M. Chumley is a registered voter in Mecklenburg County, 

residing at 13701 Alexander Lane in Huntersville.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to 

House District 98, Senate District 41, and Congressional District 9. 

38. Plaintiff Aisha Dew is a registered in Mecklenburg County residing at 2112 Saint 

Luke Street in Charlotte.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House District 107, 

Senate District 40, and Congressional District 12. 
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39. Plaintiff  Geneal Gregory is a registered voter in Mecklenburg County residing at 

6633 Lakeside Drive in Charlotte.  Under the challenged plans, she resides in House District 99, 

Senate District 40, and Congressional District 12. 

40. Plaintiff Vilma Leake is a registered voter in Mecklenburg County residing at 

1736 Chatham Ridge Circle in Charlotte.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House 

District 102, Senate District 37, and Congressional District 12. 

41. Plaintiff  Rodney W. Moore is a registered voter in Mecklenburg County residing 

at 1914 Yaupon Road in Charlotte.  Under the challenged plans, he resides in House District 99, 

Senate District 40, and Congressional District 12. 

42. Plaintiff Reverend Brenda Martin Stevenson is a registered voter in Mecklenburg 

County residing at 3900 Gossett Avenue in Charlotte.  Under the challenged plans, she is 

assigned to House District 106, Senate District 38, and Congressional District 12. 

43. Plaintiff Jane Whitley is a registered voter in Mecklenburg County residing at 

3144 East Ford Road in Charlotte.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House District 

100, Senate District 37, and Congressional District 9. 

44. Plaintiff I. T. (Tim) Valentine is a registered voter in Nash County residing at 205 

South Fort Street in Nashville.  Under the challenged plans, he is assigned to House District 25, 

Senate District 11, and Congressional District 2. 

45. Plaintiff Lois Watkins is a registered voter in Nash County residing at 700 Burton 

Street in Rocky Mount.  Under the challenged plans, she is assigned to House District 7, Senate 

District 4, and Congressional District 1. 
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46. Plaintiff Rev. Richard Joyner is a registered voter in Pitt County residing at 2110 

North Village Drive in Greenville.  Under the challenged plans, Rev. Joyner is assigned to House 

District 24, Senate District 5, and Congressional District 1. 

47. Plaintiff Melvin C. McLawhorn is a registered voter in Pitt County residing at 100 

Allendale Drive in Greenville.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. McLawhorn is assigned to 

House District 24, Senate District 5, and Congressional District 1.  

48. Plaintiff Randall S. Jones is a registered voter in Robeson County residing at 2681 

N.C. Highway 710 in Rowland.  Under the challenged plans, he resides in House District 47, 

Senate District 13, and Congressional District 8. 

49. Plaintiff  Bobby Charles Townsend is a registered voter in Robeson County 

residing at 410 Jackson Street in Fairmont.  Under the challenged plans, he resides in House 

District 48, Senate District 13, and Congressional District 8. 

50. Plaintiff Albert Kirby is a registered voter in Sampson County residing at 820 

Southwest Blvd. in Clinton.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. Kirby resides in House District 21, 

Senate District 10, and Congressional District 7. 

51. Plaintiff  Terrence Williams is a registered voter in Scotland County residing at 

10321 Scotland Farm Road in Laurinburg.  Under the challenged plans, he resides in House 

District 66, Senate District 25, and Congressional District 8. 

52. Plaintiff Dr. Norman C. Camp is a registered voter residing in Wake County at 

2216 Sanderford Road in Raleigh.  Under the challenged plans, Dr. Camp is assigned to House 

District 33, Senate District 14, and Congressional District 4. 
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53. Plaintiff  Mary H. Poole is a registered voter in Wake County residing at 801 

Delaney Drive in Raleigh.  Under the challenged plans, she resides in House District 38, Senate 

District 14, and Congressional District 4. 

54. Plaintiff Stephen T. Smith is a registered voter in Wake County residing at 1313 

College Place in Raleigh.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. Smith resides in House District 33, 

Senate District 16,  and Congressional District 4.  

55. Plaintiff Philip A. Baddour is a registered voter in Wayne County residing at 125 

Pineridge Lane in Goldsboro.  Under the challenged plans, Mr. Baddour is assigned to House 

District 21, Senate District 7, and Congressional District 1. 

DEFENDANTS 

56. Defendant Robert Rucho is a member of the North Carolina Senate, having been 

elected to that office by the voters residing in Senate District 39.  Defendant Berger appointed 

Defendant Rucho Chair of the Senate Redistricting Committee.  Defendant Rucho is sued in his 

official capacity only. 

57. Defendant David Lewis is a member of the House of Representatives, having 

been elected to that office by the voters in House District 53.  Defendant Lewis was appointed 

Chair of the House Redistricting Committee by Defendant Tillis.  Defendant Lewis is sued in his 

official capacity only. 

58. Defendant Nelson Dollar is a member of the House of Representatives, having 

been elected to the office by the voters in House District 36.  Defendant Dollar was appointed 

Co-Chair of the House Redistricting Committee by Defendant Tillis.  Defendant Dollar is sued in 

his official capacity only. 

59. Defendant Jerry Dockham is a member of the House of Representatives, having 

been elected to that office by the voters of District 80.  Defendant Dockham was appointed Co-
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Chair of the House Redistricting Committee by Defendant Tillis.  Defendant Dockham is sued in 

his official capacity only. 

60. Defendant Philip E. Berger is a member of the North Carolina Senate, having 

been elected to that office by voters residing in Senate District 26.  Senator Berger has been 

selected by the other Senators to serve as President Pro Tempore of the Senate.  Among the 

powers of the President Pro Tempore is to name the officers and members of Senate committees.  

Senator Berger is sued in his official capacity only. 

61. Defendant Thom Tillis is a member of the North Carolina House of 

Representatives, having been elected to that office by the voters residing in House District 98.  

Defendant Tillis has been selected by the other Representatives to serve as Speaker of the House.  

Among the powers of the Speaker are to appoint the officers and members of House committees.  

Defendant Tillis is sued in his official capacity only. 

62. Defendant State Board of Elections is an agency of the State of North Carolina 

established by Chapter 163, Article 3 of the North Carolina General  Statutes.  It has “general 

supervision over the primaries and elections in the State.”  N.C. Gen. Stat. § 163-22(a). 

63. Defendant State of North Carolina is one of the 50 sovereign states in the United 

States.  Article I of the State‟s Constitution establishes “principles of liberty and free 

government,” which the General Assembly and its members must honor in enacting legislation 

for the State and its citizens. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

64. This Court has jurisdiction of the state claims action pursuant to Articles 26 and 

26A of Chapter 1 of the General Statutes.  The Court has jurisdiction of the federal claims 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
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65. Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-81.1, the exclusive venue for this action is the 

Wake County Superior Court. 

THREE-JUDGE COURT 

66. A three-judge court is required to be convened in this matter pursuant to N.C. 

Gen. Stat. § 1-267.1, because this action challenges the validity of redistricting plans enacted by 

the General Assembly. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 

An Overview of Defendants’ Unlawful Goals 

67. The 2011 Regular Session of the North Carolina General Assembly convened on 

January 26, 2011. 

68. Article II, Sections 3 and 5 of the North Carolina Constitution imposed on the 

General Assembly the duty to revise Senate and House districts, and 2 U.S.C. §§ 2a and 2c 

authorized the General Assembly to revise Congressional districts. 

69. As a result of the 2010 general elections, the Republican Party gained control of 

both the Senate and House.  Of the 50 Senators elected in 2010, 31 are members of the 

Republican Party, and 19 are members of the Democratic Party.  Of the 120 Representatives 

elected in 2010, 67 are members of the Republican Party and 53 are members of the Democratic 

Party. 

70. Soon after the General Assembly convened Defendant Berger was elected 

President Pro Tempore of the Senate, and Defendant Thom Tillis was elected Speaker of the 

House. 

71. On January 27, 2011, Defendant Berger appointed the officers and members of 

the Senate Redistricting Committee.  All officers of the Committee were Republican and 10 of 

the 15 members were Republican. 
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72. On February 15, 2011, Defendant Tillis appointed the officers and members of the 

House Redistricting Committee.  All officers of the Committee were Republican and a majority 

of the members were Republican. 

73. The House Redistricting Committee had primary responsibility for developing 

and proposing a plan for redistricting the House, and the Senate Redistricting Committee had 

primary responsibility for developing and proposing a plan for redistricting the Senate.  Primary 

responsibility for developing and proposing a Congressional Redistricting Plan was exercised 

jointly by the House and Senate Committees. 

74. Defendants Berger, Rucho, Tillis, Lewis, Dollar, and Dockham tightly controlled 

and directed the redistricting process for the Senate, the House, and Congress, and only 

nominally involved the Redistricting Committees and legislative staff in this process. 

75. To maintain tight control of the redistricting process, Defendant Rucho convened 

only one meeting of the Senate Redistricting Committee between its creation in January 2011 

and July 1, 2011 and at no point asked legislative staff to design or draw any plan.  For this same 

purpose, Defendant Lewis convened only one meeting of the House Redistricting Committee 

between its creation in July 2011 and July 1, 2011, and at no point asked any legislative staff to 

design or draw any proposed plan. 

76. Instead of actively involving the Committee and legislative staff, Defendants 

Berger, Rucho, Tillis, and Lewis, without the approval of the Redistricting Committees, used 

public funds to hire consultants to design and draw redistricting plans for the Senate, the House 

and Congress.  Thomas Hoffler, a long-time redistricting consultant to the Republican National 

Committee, was one of the consultants retained. 
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77. Defendants Berger, Rucho, Tillis, Lewis, Dollar, and Dockham instructed their 

consultants to prepare Senate, House, and Congressional plans that would maximize the election 

prospects for Republican candidates. 

78. To assure that this goal could be achieved, Defendants Berger, Rucho, Tillis, and 

Lewis further instructed their fellow Republican members of the Senate and House not to 

introduce any competing redistricting plans or prepare any amendment to any plan proposed by 

Senate Rucho or Lewis without their consent. 

79. Based on the advice of their consultants, Defendants Berger, Rucho, Tillis, Lewis, 

Dollar, and Dockham determined that they could best achieve their goal of maximizing the 

election prospects for Republican candidates by drawing plans that created as many districts as 

possible in which Black voters constituted a majority of voters.  In a public statement issued on 

June 17, 2011, Defendant Rucho and Defendant Lewis stated: “[I]n constructing VRA [Voting 

Rights Act] majority [B]lack districts, the Chairs recommend that, where possible, these districts 

be drawn at a level equal to at least 50% plus one „BVAP‟ [Black Voting Age Population].” 

80. Defendants subordinated all legitimate redistricting factors to achieving their goal. 

They hid their goal behind the façade of the spurious legal theory that Sections 2 and 5 of the  

Voting Rights Act of 1965, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973 and 1973c, required them to maximize the 

assignment of Black citizens to separate districts in which Black citizens of voting age 

constituted at least a majority of voters. 

The Importance of Traditional Redistricting 

Standards to the Integrity of the Elections Process 

81. Precincts are the building blocks on which the elections process is built. 
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82. Precinct boundaries are drawn by local officials who apply established criteria 

and use their specific knowledge of local geographic and demographic factors to construct 

precincts to protect the integrity of the voting process and to assure an informed electorate. 

83. Dividing precincts in the formation of electoral districts compromises the integrity 

of the voting process, increases the costs of elections, increases the costs of campaigning for 

candidates, and creates voter confusion. 

84.  Citizens residing within precincts constitute communities of interest that should 

be maintained in the formation of State Senate, State House and Congressional Districts.   

Dividing precincts fractures the communities encompassed within the boundaries of those 

precincts. 

85. Defendant State of North Carolina has longstanding laws and policies against 

dividing precincts in the formation of electoral districts. 

86. In 1995, the General Assembly enacted legislation prohibiting the dividing of 

precincts in the redrawing of House, Senate, and Congressional districts except in certain narrow 

circumstances.  1995 S.L. 355 (enacting G.S. § 120-2.1 and G.S. § 163-201.2).  Though the 

United States Department of Justice refused to preclear this legislation, 1995 S.L. 355 remains 

effective in the 60 counties not covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. 

87. More recently, legislation was enacted requiring participation in various census 

programs “so the State will be able to revise districts at all levels without splitting precincts and 

in compliance with the United States and North Carolina Constitutions and the Voting Rights 

Act of 1965 as amended.”  2006 S.L. 264, s. 75.5(b) (adding G.S. § 163-132.1B) and 2009 S.L. 

541, s. 17 (amending G.S. § 132.1B(a)).  
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88. Most recently, by a vote of 113-1 in the House and 46-2 in the Senate, the General 

Assembly in July 2011, contemporaneously with its consideration of 2011 S.L. 402, 403, and 

404, directed the Guilford County Board of Commissioners to “minimize the dividing of 

precincts” in drawing new county commissioner districts.  2011 S.L. 172. 

89. Locally elected officials also establish the boundaries of town and cities in order 

to meet the needs of their citizens and their community. 

90. These boundaries reflect the informed judgment of these locally elected 

representatives regarding the interests and needs of their constituents.  Citizens residing within 

these locally-defined boundaries constitute communities of interest that should be maintained in 

the formation of State Senate, State House, and Congressional Districts.  Dividing towns 

fractures the communities encompassed within the boundaries of those towns. 

91. Defendants have acknowledged the importance of using locally established 

municipal boundaries in the formation of State Senate, State House, and Congressional districts. 

92. With regard to counties, the North Carolina Supreme Court has held that counties 

“constitute a distinguishing feature in our free system of government.  It is through them, in large 

degree, that the people enjoy the benefits arising from local self-government, and foster and 

perpetuate the spirit of independence and love of liberty that withers and dies under the painful 

influence of centralized systems of government.”  Stephenson, 355 N.C. at 386. 

93. The Supreme Court has also observed that “Counties play a vital role in many 

areas touching the everyday lives of North Carolinians.  Not surprisingly, people identify 

themselves as residents of their counties and customarily interact most frequently with their 

government at the county level.”  Id. 
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94. Article II, §§ 3 and 5 of the Constitution, provide that “no county shall be divided 

in the formation of a (senate or house) district.” 

95. The North Carolina Supreme Court in Stephenson declared the Defendants must 

strictly adhere to the requirements of Article II, §§ 3 and 5 of the Constitution in redistricting the 

State House and State Senate, except in those narrow circumstances where federal law mandates 

otherwise. 

The Senate Redistricting Plan 

96. The Senate Redistricting Plan was enacted on July 27, 2011, and precleared by 

the United States Department of Justice on November 1, 2011. 

97. In recognition of Defendant Rucho‟s pivotal role in its design and enactment, the 

plan was labeled “Rucho Senate 2.” 

98. No Black Senator or Representative voted in favor of this legislation.  Consistent 

with Defendants‟ strategy, Defendants assigned approximately one-half of the State‟s Black 

citizens to 10 Senate districts without regard for traditional redistricting standards. 

99. Defendants constructed many of the districts in Rucho Senate 2 by stringing 

together bits and pieces of precincts.  Defendants‟ plan divides 257 precincts between two or 

more districts.  More than 1,300,000 citizens reside within these divided precincts. More than 

one-half of the precincts in Cumberland County (33 of 48) and Durham County (35 of 56) are 

divided.  In Forsyth County, 43 precincts are divided; in Wake County, 33 precincts are divided; 

and in Mecklenburg County, 30 precincts are divided. 

100. Never in the history of the State has a Senate redistricting plan divided so many 

precincts.  Five times more precincts are split by the 2011 Senate plan than by the Senate plan 

enacted by the General Assembly in 2003 and used for the 2004-2010 elections.  
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101. There is no lawful or rational basis for the division of those precincts. Fully 

lawful and rational plans that would have divided far fewer precincts than Rucho Senate 2 were 

introduced in the General Assembly, but rejected by Defendants. Senator Nesbitt introduced a 

plan that would have divided only 6 precincts. 

102. Plaintiffs, the citizens residing in these divided precincts and citizens across the 

State, have been harmed by Defendants‟ actions in dividing those precincts.  Divided precincts 

confuse voters and thereby abridge their right to vote; increase the costs of elections for counties 

and taxpayers; increase the costs of campaigning for candidates; and create uncertainty for 

elected office holders regarding the identity of their constituents.  

103. Equal population obligations require that larger cities be divided into two or more 

districts.  Rucho Senate 2, however, unnecessarily divides 51 towns and small cities located 

within a single county into two or more districts. Among the towns divided in Rucho Senate 2 

are three with populations under 1000. These towns are Dortches (935); Bethania (328); and 

Grimesland (441). 

104. There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing those towns. Fully lawful and 

rational plans that would have divided fewer towns were introduced in the General Assembly but 

rejected by Defendants.  Senator Nesbitt introduced a plan that would have divided only 25 

towns located within a single county. 

105. Plaintiffs, the citizens residing within these divided towns and citizens across the 

State, have been harmed by Defendants‟ actions in dividing those towns. 

106. Rucho Senate 2 divides 19 counties: Buncombe, Cumberland, Durham, Forsyth, 

Gaston, Guilford, Iredell, Johnston, Lenoir, Mecklenburg, Nash, New Hanover, Pitt, Randolph, 

Rowan, Union, Wake, Wayne, and Wilson. 
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107. There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing this many counties.  Fully lawful 

and rational plans that would have divided fewer counties were introduced in the General 

Assembly, but rejected by Defendants.  Senator Nesbitt introduced a plan that would have 

divided only 14 counties: Buncombe, Catawba, Cumberland, Davidson, Durham, Forsyth, 

Gaston, Guilford, Harnett, Johnston, Mecklenburg, New Hanover, Union, and Wake. 

108. Plaintiffs, citizens residing in the 19 counties divided in 2011 S.L. 402, and 

citizens across the State, have been harmed by Defendants‟ actions. 

Senate District 4 

109. District 4 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in Vance, Warren, and Halifax 

Counties and in parts of Nash and Wilson Counties.  It was not necessary to divide Nash and 

Wilson counties in forming this district. 

110. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 4 is 

shown below. 
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111. District 4 divides Dortches, Red Oak, Rocky Mount, Sharpsburg, Whitakers, and 

Wilson.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these towns. 

112. One measure of District 4‟s non-compact and irrational shape is the length of its 

perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of District 4 is 361.70 

miles, which is approximately the distance from Wilson to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 

113. Race was the dominant factor in drawing District 4.  Defendants drew District 4 

so that its Black voting age population is 52.75%. 

114. District 4 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless it is narrowly 

tailored to meet a compelling interest. 

115. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 4 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they had in drawing that district to comply 

with the Sections 2 and 5 of the Voting Rights Act. 

Senate District 5 

116. District 5 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in Greene County and in parts of 

Wayne, Lenoir and Pitt Counties.  It was not necessary to divide Wayne, Lenoir, and Pitt 

counties in forming this district. 

117. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 5 is 

shown below. 
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118. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 5.  In constructing District 

5, Defendants used pieces of 40 precincts: 16 in Pitt County, 16 in Wayne County, and 8 in 

Lenoir County.  Defendants also used pieces of towns to construct District 5.  Those split towns 

are: Ayden, Goldsboro, Greenville, Grifton, Grimesland, Kinston, Mt. Olive, and Winterville.  

There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 

119. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 5 is the length of 

its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of District 5 is 

394.60 miles, which is approximately the distance from Greenville to Trenton, New Jersey. 

120. Race was the dominant factor in drawing District 5.  The Black voting age 

population in the district is 51.97%. 

121. District 5 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless it is narrowly 

tailored to serve a compelling interest. 
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122. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 5 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest in complying with Sections 2 and 5 of the  

Voting Rights Act. 

Senate District 7 

123. District 7 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

which was drawn without regard for communities of interest, and which unnecessarily divides 

Wayne, Lenoir, and Pitt counties. 

124. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 7 is 

shown below: 

  

125. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 7. Forty (40) of the 

precincts Defendants used to construct District 7 are split precincts.  Sixteen (16) of these split 

precincts are in Pitt County; 16 are in Wayne County; and 8 are in Lenoir County.  Defendants 
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also used pieces of eight (8) towns to construct District 7.  These towns are Ayden, Goldsboro, 

Greenville, Grifton, Grimesland, Kinston, Mt. Olive and Winterville.  There is no lawful or 

rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 

126. One measure of District 7‟s non-compact and irrational shape is its length.  Based 

on calculations performed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of District 7 is 477.20 

miles, or approximately the distance from Greenville to New York City. 

127. The Defendants did not draw District 7 to comply with any  law.  Approximately 

78% of the voting age population in District 7 is White. 

Senate District 14 

128. District 14 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Wake County. 

129. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 14 is 

shown below. 
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130. Pieces of precincts are the major component of District 14. In constructing 

District 14, Defendants used pieces of 27 precincts.  Defendants also used pieces of towns in 

constructing District 14. In addition to Raleigh, District 14 divides Garner, Knightdale, and 

Wendell.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts, and towns. 

131. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 14 is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of District 14 is 

133.62 miles, or approximately the distance from Raleigh to Chesapeake, Virginia. 

132. Race was the dominant factor in drawing District 14.  Defendants drew District 14 

so that its Black voting age population is 51.28%. 

133. District 14 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless it is narrowly 

tailored to meet a compelling interest. 

134. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 14 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in drawing that district 

to comply with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  Defendants artificially inflated the Black 

voting age population in District 14 to a level greater than required to comply with Section 2. 

135. In drawing District 14, Defendants knew that District 14 as drawn by the General 

Assembly in 2003 had a Black voting age population substantially lower than in their plan— 

41.62% in the prior plan; 51.27% in the Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  Defendants also knew that the 

Black candidate had defeated the White candidate by a substantial margin at each of the four 

general elections held under the 2003 Senate Redistricting Plan.  At the 2004 general election, 

the Black candidate (Vernon Malone) defeated the White candidate by 64.1% to 35.9%.  At the 

2006 general election, Senator Malone defeated the White candidate by 65.9% to 34.1%.  At the 

2008 general election, Senator Malone defeated the White candidate 69.45% to 30.55%.  At the 
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2010 general election, the Black candidate (Dan Blue) defeated the White candidate 65.9% to 

34.1%. 

Senate District 19 

136. District 19 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Cumberland County. 

137. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 19 is 

shown below. 
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138. Pieces of precincts are the major component of District 19. In constructing 

Distinct 19, Defendants used pieces of 33 precincts.  Defendants also used pieces of towns in 

constructing District 19.  These towns are: Eastover, Fayetteville, Hope Mills, and Spring Lake.  

There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 

139. One measure of District 19‟s non-compact and irrational shape is its length.  

Based on calculations preformed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of District 19 is 

364.10 miles, or approximately the distance from Fayetteville to Atlanta. 

140. District 19 was not drawn to comply with the Voting Rights Act.  Approximately 

69% of the population in the district is White. 

Senate District 20 

141. District 20 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in Granville County and in part of 

Durham County. 

142. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 20 is 

shown below. 
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143. Pieces of precincts are the major component of the portion of District 20 located 

in Durham County. It contains pieces of 35 precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for 

dividing these precincts. 

144. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 20 is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of District 20 is 

235.52 miles, or approximately the distance from Durham to Washington, D.C. 

145. Race was the predominant factor in drawing District 20.  Defendants drew 

District 20 so that its Black voting age population is 51.04%. 

146. District 20 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was 

narrowly tailored to serve some compelling interest. 

147. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 20 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in drawing the District 

to comply with Section 5 or Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  Defendants artificially inflated 

the Black voting age population in District 20 to a level greater than required to comply with 

Section 2. 

148. In drawing District 20, Defendants knew that District 20 as drawn by the General 

Assembly in 2003 had a Black voting age population substantially lower than in their plan—

44.64% in the prior plan; 51.04% in Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  Defendants also knew that a Black 

candidate had defeated a White candidate by a substantial margin or was not opposed in the four 

elections held under the 2003 plan.  At the 2004 general election, the Black candidate (Lucas) 

defeated the White candidate (Ubinger) 90.2% to 9.8%.  At the 2006 general election, Senator 

Lucas was not opposed.  At the 2008 and 2010 general elections, the Black candidate 
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(McKissick) defeated White opponents, respectively, by 73.58% to 22.55% (and a third-party 

candidate by 3.87%), and by 73.11% to 26.89%. 

Senate District 21 

149. District 21 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in Hoke County and in part of 

Cumberland County. 

150. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 21 is 

shown below. 

 
 

151. Pieces of precincts are the major component of the portion of District 21 in 

Cumberland County. It contains pieces of 33 precincts in Cumberland.  Defendants also used 

pieces of towns in constructing District 21.  In addition to Fayetteville, District 21 divides 
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Eastover, Hope Mills, and Spring Lake.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these 

precincts, towns and cities. 

152. One measure of District 21‟s non-compact and irrational shape is the length of its 

perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of the District is 

350.17 miles, or approximately the distance from Fayetteville to Atlanta, Georgia. 

153. Race was the dominant factor in drawing District 21.  Defendants drew the 

District so that its Black voting age population is 51.34%. 

154. District 21 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was 

narrowly drawn by Defendants to meet some compelling interest. 

155. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 21 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with 

Section 5 or Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  Defendants artificially inflated the Black voting 

age population in District 21 to a level greater than required to comply with Section 2. 

156. In drawing District 21, Defendants knew that District 21 as drawn by the General 

Assembly in 2003 had a Black voting age population of 44.93%, or 6.6% lower than the Black 

voting age population encompassed within their District 21.  Defendants also knew that the 

Black candidate was unopposed or had defeated a White candidate by a substantial margin at 

each of the four general elections held under the 2003 Senate Redistricting Plan.  At the 2004 

general election, the Black candidate (Larry Shaw) received 61.21% of the vote, the White 

candidate received 36.09% of the vote, and a third party candidate received 2.69% of the votes.  

At the 2006 general election, Senator Shaw defeated the White candidate by 61.6% to 38.4%.  At 

the 2008 general election, Senator Shaw was unopposed.  At the 2010 general election, the Black 

candidate (Mansfield) defeated the White candidate 67.6% to 33.4%. 
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Senate District 27 

157. District 27 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Guilford County. 

158. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 27 is 

shown below. 

 
 

159. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 27.  Fourteen (14) of the 

precincts Defendants used in constructing District 27 are pieces of precincts. Defendants also 

used pieces of several cities and towns in constructing District 27.  In addition to Greensboro and 
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High Point, District 27 divides Archdale, Burlington, Gibsonville, Jamestown, and Pleasant 

Garden.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 

160. One measure of District 27‟s non-compact and irrational shape is its length.  

Based on calculations prepared by Defendants the length of the perimeter of District 27 is 195.60 

miles, which is approximately the distance from Greensboro to Chesapeake, Virginia. 

161. District 27 was not drawn to comply with the Voting Rights Act.  Approximately 

76% of the population of the district is White. 

Senate District 28 

162. District 28 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Guilford County. 

163. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 28 is 

shown below. 
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164. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 28.  It contains pieces of 15 

precincts.  Defendants also used pieces of several towns in constructing District 28.  In addition 

to Greensboro and High Point, District 28 divides Pleasant Garden and Jamestown.  There is no 

lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts. 

165. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing the boundaries of 

District 28.  Approximately 56.49% of the voting age population encompassed within the 

boundaries of the District is Black. 

166. District 28 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was drawn by 

Defendants to meet a compelling interest. 

167. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor the District to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in drawing the 

boundaries of the district to meet the requirements of Section 5 or Section 2 of the Voting Rights 

Act.  They artificially inflated the Black voting age population in the District to a level greater 

than required to comply with Section 2. 

168. In drawing District 28, Defendants knew that District 28 as drawn in the 2003 

Senate Redistricting Plan had a Black voting age population of 47.20%, which is 9.29% lower 

than the Black voting age population encompassed within their District 28.  Defendants also 

knew that a Black candidate had not been opposed or had soundly defeated a White candidate at 

each of the four elections held under the 2003 Senate Redistricting Plan.  At the 2004 and 2006 

general elections, the Black candidate (Katie Dorsett) was not opposed.  In the 2008 general 

election, Senator Dorsett was not opposed.  In the 2010 general election, the Black candidate 

(Robinson) defeated two White candidates, 47.84% to 38.69% to 13.47%. 
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Senate District 32 

169. District 32 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Forsyth County. 

170. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 32 is 

shown below. 

 
 

171. Pieces of precincts are the major component of District 32.  It contains pieces of 

43 precincts.  Defendants also used pieces of towns in constructing District 32.  In addition to 

Winston-Salem, District 32 divides Bethania, Clemmons, Kernersville, and Walkertown.  There 

is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 
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172. One measure of District 32‟s non-compact and irrational shape is its length.  

Based on calculations performed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of District 32 is 

149.05 miles, which is approximately the distance from Winston-Salem to Bristol, Virginia.  

Senate District 37 

173. District 37 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It is located in part of Mecklenburg County. 

174. A true and accurate copy of Defendants‟ map depicting District 37 is shown 

below. 

 
 

175. In constructing District 37, Defendants used pieces of 9 precincts.  There is no 

lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts. 



40 

176. Defendants did not draw District 37 to comply with the Voting Rights Act.  

Approximately 58% of the voting age population in District 37 is White. 

Senate District 38 

177. District 38 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It is located in part of Mecklenburg County. 

178. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 38 is 

shown below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

179. In constructing District 38, Defendants used pieces of 8 precincts. There is no 

lawful or rational basis for splitting these precincts. 
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180. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing the boundaries of 

District 38.  Approximately 53% (52.51%) of the voting age population encompassed within the 

boundaries of the District is Black. 

181. District 38 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless narrowly drawn to 

meet some compelling interest. 

182. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor the District to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had in complying with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, including any 

compelling interest they may have had in complying with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  

They artificially inflated the Black voting age population in the District to a level greater than 

necessary to comply with Section 2. 

183. In drawing the district, Defendants knew that District 38 as drawn in the 2003 

Senate Redistricting Plan had a substantially lower Black voting age population than in their 

plan—46.97% in the prior plan; 52.51% in Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  They also knew that in all 

four elections held in District 38 under the 2003 plan, the Black candidate was either not 

opposed or soundly defeated a White candidate.  At the 2004 and 2006 general elections, the 

Black candidate (Charlie Dannelly) was unopposed.  At the 2008 and 2010 general elections, 

Senator Dannelly defeated his White opponent by wide margins—73.33% to 23.87% in 2008, 

and 68.67% to 31.33% in 2010. 

Senate District 40 

184. District 40 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Mecklenburg County. 

185. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 40 is 

shown below. 
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186. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 40.  In constructing District 

40, Defendants used pieces of 16 precincts.  Defendants also used a piece of Mint Hill in 

building District 40.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 

187. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 40.  Almost 

52% (51.84%) of the voting age population encompassed within the boundary of the District is 

Black. 

188. District 40 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was 

narrowly tailored by Defendants to achieve some compelling interest. 

189. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 40 to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any interest they may have had  in complying with Section 2 of the 

Voting Rights Act.  They artificially inflated the Black voting age population in the District to a 

level greater than required to comply with Section 2. 

190. In drawing District 40, Defendants knew that District 40 as drawn in the 2003 

Senate Redistricting Plan had a substantially lower Black voting age population than in their 

plan—35.43% in the 2003 Plan; 51.84% in Defendants 2011 Plan.  Defendants also knew that in 

the four elections held under the 2003 Plan, a Black candidate had soundly defeated his 

opponent.  At the 2004 general election, the Black candidate (Malcom Graham) defeated his 

opponent by 57.88% to 42.11%.  At the 2006 general election, Senator Graham was reelected by 

61.47% to 38.52%; at the 2008 general election, he was re-elected by 66.96% to 33.04%; and at 

the 2010 general election, he was re-elected by 58.16% to 41.84%. 

Senate District 41 

191. District 41 in Rucho Senate 2 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Mecklenburg County. 
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192. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Senate District 41 is 

shown below. 

 
 

193. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 41.  In constructing District 

41, Defendants used pieces of 16 precincts.  In addition District 41 unnecessarily divides 
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Matthews and Mint Hill.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts and 

towns. 

194. One measure of District 41‟s non-compact and irrational shape is its length.  

District 41 is 141.39 miles in length, which is approximately the distance from Charlotte to 

Augusta, Georgia. 

195. Defendants did not draw District 41 to comply with the Voting Rights Act.  

Approximately 80% of the voting age population in District 41 is White. 

The House Redistricting Plan 

196. The House Redistricting legislation was enacted on July 28, 2011, and precleared 

by the United States Department of Justice on November 1, 2011. 

197.   In recognition of the pivotal role Defendants Lewis, Dollar, and Dockham 

played in its enactment, this legislation was labeled “Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4.” 

198. No Black  Representative or Senator voted in favor of this legislation. Consistent 

with Defendants‟ strategy, they assigned approximately one-half of the State‟s Black citizens to 

25 House districts without regard for traditional redistricting standards. 

199. Defendants constructed many districts in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 by stringing 

together bits and pieces of precincts. Their plan divides 395 precincts.  More than 1,800,000 

citizens reside within these divided precincts. Fifty percent (50%) or more of the precincts are 

split in Craven County (23 of 27), Greene County (5 of 10), Lee County (5 of 10), Nash County 

(15 of 27) and Scotland County (5 of 10).  In Mecklenburg County, 49 precincts are divided; in 

Wake County, 43 precincts are divided; in Guilford County, 37 precincts are divided; and in 

Cumberland County, 27 precincts are divided. 
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200. Never in the history of the State has a House redistricting plan divided so many 

precincts. Two times more precincts are split by the 2011 House plan than by the House plans 

used for the 2002-2010 elections. 

201. There is no lawful or rational basis for the division of those precincts. Fully 

lawful and rational plans that would have divided far fewer precincts than Lewis Dollar 

Dockham 4 were introduced in the General Assembly, but rejected by Defendants. 

Representative Martin introduced a plan that would have divided only 129 precincts. 

202. In drawing districts in Franklin County, Defendants divided seven (7) precincts, 

but they rejected a plan by Representatives Martin that would have kept Franklin County whole 

and divided no precincts. In drawing districts in Richmond County, Defendants divided 10 

precincts, but they rejected a plan introduced by Representative Martin that would have kept 

Richmond County whole and divided no precincts. In drawing districts in Nash County, 

Defendants divided 15 precincts, but they rejected a plan introduced by Representative Martin 

that did not divide any precincts in Nash County. In drawing districts in Buncombe County, 

Defendants divided 11 precincts, but they rejected a plan introduced by Representative Martin 

that would have divided only one (1) precinct in Buncombe County. In drawing districts in 

Mecklenburg County, Defendants divided 45 precincts, but they rejected a plan introduced by 

Representative Martin that would have divided only five (5)  precincts in Mecklenburg County.  

In drawing districts in Wake County, Defendants divided 41 precincts, but they rejected a plan 

that would have divided only three (3)  precincts in Wake County. 

203. Plaintiffs, the citizens residing in these divided precincts and citizens across the 

State, have been harmed by Defendants‟ actions in dividing those precincts.  Divided precincts 

confuse voters and thereby abridge their right to vote; increase the costs of elections for counties 
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and taxpayers; increase the costs of campaigning for candidates; and create uncertainty for 

elected office holders regarding the identity of their constituents. 

204. Equal population obligations require that larger cities be divided into two or more 

districts. Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4, however, divides 111 towns that are each located within a 

single county.  Six of these towns have populations under 1000.  These are Brookford (382); 

Castalia (268); Dortches (935); Kenansville (855); Sedalia (623); and Teachey (376). Among the 

towns divided among three districts in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 are Apex, Holly Springs, 

Locust, Morrisville, and Mt. Olive. 

205. There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing those towns and cities. Fully 

lawful and rational plans that would have divided fewer towns were introduced in the general 

Assembly but rejected by Defendants. Representative Martin introduced a plan that would have 

divided only 84 towns located in a single county, instead of 111. 

206. Plaintiffs, citizens residing within these divided towns and citizens across the 

State, have been harmed by Defendants‟ actions. 

207. Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 divides 49 counties: Alamance, Beaufort, Bladen, 

Brunswick, Buncombe, Burke, Cabarrus, Catawba, Cleveland, Craven, Cumberland, Davidson, 

Duplin, Durham, Forsyth, Franklin, Gaston, Granville, Greene, Guilford, Harnett, Haywood, 

Henderson, Hoke, Iredell, Johnston, Lee, Lenoir, Mecklenburg, Montgomery, Moore, Nash, New 

Hanover, Onslow, Orange, Pasquotank, Pitt, Randolph, Richmond, Robeson, Rockingham, 

Rowan, Sampson, Scotland, Union, Wake, Wayne, Wilkes, and Wilson. 

208. There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing this many counties.  Fully lawful 

and rational plans that would have divided fewer counties were introduced in the General 

Assembly and rejected by Defendants.  Representatives Martin introduced a plan that would 



48 

have divided only 44 counties instead of 49 counties: Alamance, Brunswick, Buncombe, Burke, 

Cabarrus, Catawba, Cleveland, Craven, Cumberland, Davidson, Davie, Durham, Edgecombe, 

Forsyth, Gaston, Granville, Guilford, Harnett, Haywood, Henderson, Hoke, Iredell, Johnston, 

Lenoir, Mecklenburg, Montgomery, Moore, Nash, New Hanover, Onslow, Orange, Pender, Pitt, 

Randolph, Robeson, Rockingham, Rowan, Sampson, Scotland, Union, Wake, Wayne, Wilkes, 

and Wilson.   

209. Plaintiffs, citizens residing in these 49 divided counties and citizens across the 

State, have been harmed by Defendants‟ actions in dividing these counties. 

House District 4 

210. House District 4 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 is a non-compact and irrationally 

shaped district drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It unnecessarily divides 

Wayne and Duplin Counties. 

211. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 4 is 

shown below. 
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212. The Wayne County portion of District 4 is largely comprised of pieces of 

precincts. The part of District 4 within Wayne County is comprised of four (4) whole precincts 

and 13 split precincts.  The part of District 4 within Duplin County contains four (4)  more split 

precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts. 

213. District 4 splits six (6) towns and small cities: Goldsboro, Kenansville, Mount 

Olive, Teachey, Wallace, and Warsaw. There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these 

towns. 

214. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 4 is its length.  

Based on calculations performed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of the District is 

303.41 miles, or approximately the distance from Goldsboro to Baltimore. 

215. Defendants did not design District 4 to comply with the Voting Rights Act.  

Approximately 74% of the voting age population in the District is White. 

House District 7 

216. House District 7 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district drawn without 

regard for communities of interest.  It unnecessarily divides Franklin and Nash Counties. 

217. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 7 is 

shown below. 
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218. District 7 is largely comprised of pieces of precincts.  The part of District 7 in 

Nash County is comprised of 15 pieces of precincts and only five (5) whole precincts. The part 

of District 7 in Franklin County is comprised of seven (7) pieces of precincts and only three (3) 

whole precincts. Of the nine (9) towns in District 7, Defendants split seven (7).  The split towns 

are Castalia, Dortches, Nashville, Rocky Mount, Sharpsburg, Spring Hope, and Whitakers.  

There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts, and towns. 

219. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 7 is the length of 

its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of District 7 is 

366.43 miles, or approximately the distance from Rocky Mount to Clemson, South Carolina. 

220. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in constructing District 7.  

Approximately 51% (50.67%) of the voting age population in District 7 is Black. 

221. District 7 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless narrowly 

tailored to achieve some compelling interest. 
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222. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 7 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with 

Section 5 or Section  2 of the Voting Rights Act. 

House District 10 

223. District 10 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped 

district drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It unnecessarily divides Wayne, 

Greene, Lenoir, and Craven Counties. 

224. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 10 is 

shown below. 

 

225. The portion of District 10 in Greene and Craven counties is largely comprised of 

pieces of precincts.  The part of District 10 in Greene County contains five (5) split precincts. 

The part of District 10 in Craven County contains 14 split precincts.  The part of District 10 in 
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Wayne County contains three (3) more split precincts and the part of District 10 in Lenoir 

County contains seven (7) more split precincts.  District 10 also splits five (5) towns: Kinston, 

Grifton, New Bern, River Bend, and Trent Woods.  There is no lawful or rational basis for 

dividing these precincts and towns. 

226. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 10 is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on calculations performed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of 

the District is 471.47 miles, or approximately the distance from New Bern to Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania. 

227. Defendants did not design District 4 to comply with federal law.  Approximately 

80% of the voting age population in the District is White. 

House District 12 

228. House District 12 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district drawn without 

regard for communities of interest.  It unnecessarily divides Greene, Lenoir, and Craven 

Counties. 

229. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 12 is 

shown below. 



54 

 

230. District 12 is predominantly constructed from pieces of precincts.  The part of 

District 12 in Greene County includes five (5) split precincts; the part of District 12 in Lenoir 

County includes seven (7) split precincts; and the part of District 12 in Craven County includes 

22 split precincts.  Half of the towns in District 12 (Havelock, Kinston, New Bern, River Bend, 

and Trent Woods) are also split between District 12 and some other district.  There is no lawful 

or rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 

231. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of the District is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of District 12 is 

400.97 miles, or approximately the distance from New Bern to Cullowhee. 
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232. Race was the predominant factor used by Defendants in constructing District 12.  

Approximately 51% (50.60%) of the voting age population of the District is Black. 

233. District 12 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless narrowly 

tailored to achieve a compelling interest. 

234. In constructing District 12, Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 12 to 

achieve any compelling interest they may have had, including any compelling interest they may 

have had in complying with Section 5 or Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. They artificially 

inflated the Black voting age population in the district to a level greater than required to comply 

with Section 2 and Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act 

235. In drawing District 12, Defendants knew that the Black voting age population in 

the prior plan was substantially lower than in their plan—46.45% in the prior plan; 50.60% in the 

Defendants‟ 2011 plan. Defendants also knew that at the four general elections under the prior 

plan the Black candidate had defeated a White candidate. The Black candidate, Representative 

Wainwright, prevailed at the 2004, 2006, 2008, and 2010 general elections, respectively, by 

64.49% to 35.50%, 66.27% to 33.72%, 69.13% to 30.86% and 60.20% to 39.79%  

House District 21 

236. District 21 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped 

district drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It unnecessarily divides Sampson, 

Duplin, and Wayne Counties. 

237. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 21 is 

shown below. 
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238. Pieces of precincts and towns are the principal components of District 21. The 

part of Wayne County in District 21 includes 12 split precincts; the part of Duplin County in 

District 21 includes four (4) split precincts; and the part of Sampson County in District 21 
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includes nine (9) split precincts. Of the 14 towns included in District, seven (7) are split between 

Distract 21 and some other district. The split towns are Clinton, Goldsboro, Kenansville, Mt. 

Olive, Teachey, Wallace, and Warsaw.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these 

precincts, towns and cities. 

239. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 21 is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculation, the length of the perimeter of District 21 is 

301.16 miles, or approximately the distance from Goldsboro to Asheville. 

240. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 21.  Almost 

52% (51.90%) of the voting age population in the district is African American. 

241. District 21 constitutes an unconditional racial classification unless it was narrowly 

drawn by Defendants to meet some compelling interest. 

242. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 21 to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. 

243. In drawing District 21, Defendants knew that District 21 as drawn in the previous 

House Redistricting Plan had a substantially lower Black voting age population than in their 

plan—46.25% in the prior plan; 51.90% in Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  Defendants also knew that in 

the four elections held under the previous plan, the Black candidate had no opponent or soundly 

defeated his opponent.  At the 2004, 2006, and 2008 elections, the Black candidate (Larry Bell) 

was unopposed.  At the 2010 general election Representative Bell defeated a White opponent by 

65.59% to 34.40%. 

House District 24 

244. House District 24 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district drawn without 

regard for communities of interest.  It is located in parts of Wilson and Pitt Counties. 
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245. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 24 is 

shown below. 

 

246. In constructing District 24, Defendants divided 12 precincts, eight (8) in Pitt and 

four (4) in Wilson.  There was no lawful or rational basis for these actions. 

247. Race was the predominant factor used by Defendants in constructing District 24.  

Approximately 57% (57.33%) of the voting age population of the District is Black. 

248. District 24 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless narrowly tailored to 

achieve some compelling interest. 

249. In constructing District 24, Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 24 to 

achieve any compelling interest they may have had, including any interest they may have had in 

complying with Section 2 or Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. 
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House District 25 

250. District 25 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham is a non-compact and irrationally shaped 

district drawn without regard for communities of interest. It unnecessarily divides Franklin and 

Nash Counties. 

251. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 25 is 

shown below. 

 

252. The part of District 25 in Nash County is largely comprised of pieces of precincts. 

Of the 19 Nash County precincts in District 25, 15 are split precincts and four (4) are whole 

precincts.  In the Franklin County part of District 25, seven (7) precincts are split precincts and 
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eight (8) are whole precincts.  District 25 also divides six (6) towns: Bunn, Nashville, Rocky 

Mount, Sharpsburg, Spring Hope, and Wake Forest.  There is no lawful or rational basis for 

dividing these precincts and  towns. 

253. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 25 is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on calculations performed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of 

the District is 332.05 miles, or approximately the distance from Rocky Mount to Savannah, 

Georgia. 

254. Defendants did not draw District 25 to comply with federal law.  Approximately 

79% of the voting age population in the District is White. 

House District 29 

255. District 29 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 is a non-compact district and irrationally 

shaped district drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It is located in part of Durham 

County. 

256. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 29 is 

shown below. 
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257. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 29.  Fourteen (14) of the 29 

precincts Defendants included in District 29 are split precincts.  There is no lawful or rational 

basis for using these split precincts to construct District 29 these precincts. 

258. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 29.  

Approximately 51% (51.34%) of the voting age population encompassed within the boundaries 

of District 29 is Black. 

259. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 29 to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in drawing the 

boundaries of the District to comply with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  Defendants 

artificially inflated the Black voting age population in the District to a level higher than required 

to comply with Section 2. 
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260. In drawing District 29, Defendants knew that District 29 was drawn by the 

General Assembly in the previous plan was significantly lower than in the their plan—39.99% in 

the prior plan; 51.34% in Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  Defendants also knew that at all four elections 

under the prior plan the Black candidate did not have an opponent or had soundly defeated his 

opponent.  Representative Larry Hall is Black.  In 2004, 2006, and 2010, Representative Hall ran 

without opposition.  In 2008, Representative Hall defeated his opponent 90.73% to 9.27%. 

House District 31 

261. District 31 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped 

district drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It is located in part of Durham 

County. 

262. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 31 is 

shown below. 
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263. Defendants used pieces of 13 precincts to build District 31.  There is no lawful or 

rational basis for using these split precincts to build District 31. 

264. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 31.  

Approximately 52% (51.81%) of the voting age population encompassed within the boundaries 

of District 31 is Black. 
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265. District 31 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless Defendants 

narrowly tailored it to meet some compelling interest. 

266. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 31 to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. 

267. In drawing District 31, Defendants knew that District 31 as drawn in the prior 

plan had a substantially lower Black voting age population than in their plan—47.23% in the 

prior plan; 51.81% in Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  Defendants also knew that in the four elections 

held under the prior plan, the Black candidate, Representative Michaux, had no opposition or 

soundly defeated his opponent.  At the 2006 and 2008 general elections, Representative Michaux 

did not have an opponent.  At the 2004 general election, Representative Michaux defeated his 

opponent by 85.97% to 14.02% and at the 2010 election, he defeated his opponent 75.5% to 

24.5%. 

House District 33  

268. District 33 is a non-compact, irrationally shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Wake County. 

269. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 33 is 

shown below. 
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270. Pieces of precincts are a  principal component of District 33.  It contains pieces of  

13 precincts. There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district with pieces of 

precincts.  

271. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 33.  

Approximately 52% (51.74%) of the voting age population encompassed within the boundaries 

of District 33 is Black.  

272. District 33 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless Defendants 

narrowly tailored it to meet some compelling interest. 
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273. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 33 to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. 

House District 34 

274. District 34 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district drawn without regard 

for communities of interest. It is located partly in Wake County.  It has been described in the 

media as resembling a “mutant crab.” 

275. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 34 is 

shown below. 
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276. Almost half of the precincts in District 34 (14 of 30) are pieces of precincts.  

There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts. 

277. Defendants did not draw District 34 to comply with federal law.  Approximately 

74% of the voting age population in the District is White. 

House District 38 

278. District 38 is a non-compact, illogically shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Wake County. 

279. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 38 is 

shown below. 
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280. Pieces of precincts are a  principal component of District 38.  It contains pieces of 

13 precincts. There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district with pieces of 

precincts.  

281. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 38.  

Approximately 52% (51.37%) of the voting age population encompassed within the boundaries 

of District 38 is Black. 

282. District 38 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless Defendants 

narrowly tailored it to meet some compelling interest.  

283. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 38 to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying  with 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.    

House District 42 

284. District 42 is a non-compact, illogically shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Cumberland County  

285. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 42 is 

shown below. 
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286. Pieces of precincts are a  principal component  of District 42. It contains pieces of 

15 precincts. There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district with pieces of 

precincts. 



70 

287.  Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 42.  

Approximately 53% (52.56%) of the voting age population encompassed within the boundaries 

of District 38 is Black.  

288. District 42 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless Defendants 

narrowly tailored it to meet some compelling interest.  

289. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 42 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had in drawing District 42, including any interest they may have had in 

complying with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. 

House District 43 

290. District 43 is a non-compact, illogically shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Cumberland County.  

291. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 43 is 

shown below. 
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292. Pieces of precincts are the major component of District 43. It contains  pieces of 

15 precincts. There is no lawful or logical basis for constructing this district from pieces of 

precincts. 
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293. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 43.  

Approximately 51% (51.45%) of the voting age population encompassed within the boundaries 

of District 38 is Black. 

294. District 43 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless Defendants 

narrowly tailored it to meet some compelling interest. 

295. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 43 to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying  with 

Section 2 and Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. 

House District 45 

296. District 45 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped 

district drawn without regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Cumberland 

County. 

297. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 45 is 

shown below. 
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298. District 45 is largely comprised of pieces of precincts.  It contains 10 pieces of 

precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts. 

299. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 45 is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on calculations performed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of 

the District is 242.86 miles, or approximately the distance from Fayetteville to Asheville. 

300. Defendants did not draw District 45 to comply with federal law.  Approximately 

72% of the voting age population of District 45 is White. 
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House District 47 

301. House District 47 is a non-compact, illogically shaped district drawn without 

regard for communities of interest.  It is located in part of Robeson County.  

302. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 47 is 

shown below. 

 

 

303. Pieces of precincts are the major component of District 47. Of the 33 precincts 

Defendants included in District 47, 20 are pieces of precincts.  There is no lawful or logical basis 

for constructing this district out of pieces of precincts. 
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House District 48 

304. District 48 is a non-compact, irrationally shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in parts of four counties: Richmond, Scotland, Hoke, and 

Robeson Counties.  

305. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 48 is 

shown below. 

 
 

306. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 48. It includes nine (9) 

pieces of precincts from Robeson County; 10 pieces of precincts from Richmond County; and 
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five (5) pieces of precincts from both Scotland and Hoke counties. Parts of towns are also a 

major components of District 48.  Of the 17 towns included in District 48, seven (7) are split 

between District 48 and some other district.  The split towns are Ellerbe, Fairmont, Hamlet, 

Laurinburg, Lumberton, Red Springs, and Rockingham.  There was no rational or lawful basis 

for these actions. 

307. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of the district is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of the District is 

407.84 miles, or approximately the distance from Lumberton to Charleston West Virginia. 

308. Race was the predominant factor used by Defendants in constructing District 48.  

Almost 51% (51.27%) of the voting age population in the District is Black. 

309. District 48 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless narrowly tailored to 

serve some compelling interest. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 38 to meet any 

compelling interest they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in 

complying  with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. 

310. Defendants artificially inflated the Black voting age population in the district to a 

level greater than required to comply with Section 5 or Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act 

311. In drawing District 48, Defendants knew that the Black voting age population in 

the prior district was substantially lower than in their plan—45.56% in the prior plan; 51.27% in 

the Defendants‟ 2011 plan. Defendants also knew that at the four general elections under the 

prior plan the Black candidate, Representative Pierce, did not have an opponent or soundly 

defeated his opponent. At the 2004, 2006, and 2008 general elections, Representative Pierce did 

not have an opponent. At the 2010 general election, Representative Pierce defeated his White 

opponent 73.75% to 26.25%. 
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House District 57 

312. District 57 is a non-compact, illogically shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Guilford County. 

313. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 57 is 

shown below. 

 
 

314. Pieces of precincts are the major component of District 57. It contains pieces of 

15 precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district from pieces of 

precincts. 

315.  Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 57.  

Approximately 51% (51.69%) of the voting age population in the District is Black. 
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316. District 57 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was narrowly 

drawn to serve a compelling interest. 

317. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 57 to serve any compelling interest, 

including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with Section 2 of the Voting 

Rights Act. 

House District 58 

318. District 58 is a non-compact, illogically shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Guilford County. 

319. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 58 is 

shown below. 
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320. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 58.  It contains pieces of 15 

precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district with pieces of 

precincts. 

321. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 58.  

Approximately 51% (51.11%) of the voting age population in the District is Black. 

322. District 58 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was narrowly 

drawn to serve a compelling interest.  
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323. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 58 to serve any compelling interest, 

including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with Section 2 or Section 5 of 

the Voting Rights Act. 

House District 60 

324. District 60 is a non-compact, illogically shaped district  drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Guilford County.  

325. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 60 is 

shown below. 
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326. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 60.  It contains pieces of 16 

precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district with pieces of 

precincts. 

327.  Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 60.  

Approximately 51% (51.36%) of the voting age population in the District is Black. 

328. District 60 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was narrowly 

drawn to serve a compelling interest. 
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329. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 60 to serve any compelling interest, 

including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with Section 2 or Section 5 of 

the Voting Rights Act. 

House District 66 

330. District 66 in Lewis-Dollar-Dockham 4 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped 

district drawn without regard for communities of interest.  It unnecessarily divides Montgomery, 

Richmond, Scotland, Robeson and Hoke Counties. 

331. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 66 is 

shown below. 

 

332. Defendants divided 24 precincts in five (5) different counties  in forming District 

66: ten (10) in Richmond County; five (5) in Scotland County; five (5) in Hoke county; three (3) 

in Robeson County; and one (1) in Montgomery county.  They also divided five (5) towns: Mt. 

Gilead, Laurinburg, Hamlet, Ellerbe and Rockingham.  There is no lawful or rational basis for 

dividing these precincts and towns. 
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333. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape of District 66 is the length 

of its perimeter.  Based on calculations performed by Defendants, the length of the perimeter of 

the District is 428.08 miles, or approximately the distance from Rockingham to Jacksonville, 

Florida. 

334. Defendants did not design District 66 to comply with federal law.  Approximately 

66% of the voting age population in the District is White. 

House District 75 

335. District 75 is a non-compact and irrationally structured district drawn without 

regard for communities of interest. It is located in part of Forsyth County. 

336. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 75 is 

shown below. 

 

337. It divides 11 precincts and Clemmons, Kernersville and Walkertown.  There is no 

lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts, towns and cities. 
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338. Defendants did not design District 75 to comply with federal law.  Approximately 

82% of the voting age population in the District is White. 

House District 92 

339. District 92 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district drawn without regard 

for communities of interest.  It is  located in part of Mecklenburg County. 

340. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 92 is 

shown below. 

 



85 

341. District 92 is largely comprised of pieces of precincts. It contains pieces of 11 

precincts.  The district also unnecessarily splits the towns of Pineville and Huntersville.  There is 

no lawful or rational basis for dividing these precincts and towns. 

342. Defendants did not design District 92 to comply with federal law.  Approximately 

71% of the voting age population of District 92 is White. 

House District 99 

343. District 99 is a non-compact, irrationally shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Mecklenburg County. 

344. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 99 is 

shown below. 
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345. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 99. It contains pieces of 7 

precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district with pieces of 

precincts. 

346. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 99.  

Approximately 55% (54.65%) of the voting age population in the District is Black. 

347. District 99 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was narrowly 

drawn to serve a compelling interest. 

348. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 99 to serve any compelling interest, 

including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with Section 2 of the Voting 

Rights Act. 

349. In drawing the District, the Defendants knew that the Black voting age population 

in the present plan was substantially lower than in their Plan—41.26% in the prior plan; 54.65% 

in the Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  Defendants also knew that at the 2008 general election, the Black 

candidate, Nick Mackey, defeated his opponent 65.32% to 34.68%, and at the 2010 general 

election, the Black candidate, Rodney Moore, defeated his opponent 72.01% to 27.99%. 

House District 102 

350. District 102 is a non-compact illogically shaped district drawn without regard for 

communities of interest.  It is located in part of Mecklenburg County.  

351. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 102 is 

shown below. 
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352. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 102. It contains pieces of 12 

precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for constructing this district with pieces of 

precincts. 

353.  Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 102.  

Approximately 53% (53.53%) of the voting age population in the District is Black. 
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354. District 102 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was narrowly 

drawn to serve a compelling interest. 

355. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 102 to serve any compelling interest, 

including any compelling interest they may have had in complying with Section 2 of the Voting 

Rights Act. 

House District 107 

356. District 107 is a non-compact, irrationally shaped district drawn without regard 

for communities of interest.  It is located in part of Mecklenburg County. 

357. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting House District 107 is 

shown below. 
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358. Pieces of precincts are a major component of District 107. Of the 19 precincts 

included in District 99, nine (9) are pieces of precincts.  There is no lawful or rational basis for 

constructing this district with pieces of precincts. 

359. Race was the dominant factor used by Defendants in drawing District 107.  

Approximately 53% of the voting age population in the District is Black. 

360. District 107 is an unconstitutional racial classification unless it was narrowly 

tailored to serve a compelling interest. 

361. Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 107 to serve any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in complying  with 

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  In drawing District 107, Defendants knew that the Black 

voting age population in the previous plan was substantially lower than in their Plan—47.14% in 

the prior plan; 52.25% in Defendants‟ 2011 Plan.  Defendants also knew that in the four elections 

held under the previous plan, the Black candidate soundly defeated his opponent.  At the 2004 

general election, the Black candidate, Pete Cunningham, defeated his opponent 68.2% to 31.8%.  

At the 2006 general election, Representative Cunningham did not have an opponent.  At the 

2008 and 2010 elections, the Black candidate, Kelly Alexander, defeated his opponent 75.26% to 

24.74% and 67.26% to 32.74%. 

The 2011 Congressional Redistricting Plan 

362. The 2011 Congressional Redistricting Plan, 2011 S.L. 403, was enacted on 

July 27, 2011, and precleared by the United States Department of Justice on November 1, 2011. 

363. No Black  member of the General Assembly voted in favor of this legislation. 

364. Consistent with Defendants‟ strategy, they assigned approximately one-half of the 

State‟s Black citizens to just three (3) of the State‟s 13 Congressional Districts without regard for 

traditional redistricting standards. 



90 

365. The 2011 Congressional Redistricting Plan divides 68 precincts in 24 counties. 

Approximately 270,000 citizens reside in these precincts.  

366. The 2011 Congressional Redistricting Plan divides 40 counties.  The counties 

divided are: Alamance, Beaufort, Buncombe, Cabarrus, Catawba, Chatham, Chowan, Craven, 

Cumberland, Davidson, Durham, Edgecombe, Forsyth, Franklin, Gates, Granville, Greene, 

Guilford, Harnett, Hoke, Iredell, Lenoir, Martin, Mecklenburg, Nash, New Hanover, Orange, 

Pasquotank, Pender, Perquimans, Pitt, Randolph, Robeson, Rowan, Union, Vance, Wake, 

Washington, Wayne, and Wilson 

367. No constitutional congressional redistricting plan previously enacted by the 

General Assembly divided 40 counties.  The 1991 Congressional Redistricting Plan did divide 40 

counties, but that plan was declared unconstitutional. 

368. Upon information and belief, no congressional redistricting plan adopted by any 

State has ever divided 40% of  its counties. 

369. Four of the 13 districts in the 2011 Congressional Plan (Districts 4, 9, 12 and 13) 

are comprised entirely of pieces of counties, and four (4) other districts (1, 2, 3, and 8) contain 

more pieces of counties than whole counties. 

370.  Defendants did not have any lawful or rational basis for dividing 40 counties. 

Fully lawful and rational plans which would have divided fewer counties were introduced in the 

General Assembly, but rejected by Defendants.  Senator Stein introduced a plan that would have 

divided only 26 counties:  Beaufort, Cabarrus, Chatham, Craven, Cumberland, Davidson, 

Duplin, Forsyth, Gaston, Granville, Guilford, Jones, Lenoir, Mecklenburg, Moore, Nash, 

Pasquotank, Pitt, Rockingham, Rowan, Rutherford, Sampson, Stokes, Wake, Wayne, and 

Wilson. 
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371. Plaintiffs, citizens residing within some or all of the 40 counties divided by 

Defendants and citizens across the State, have been harmed by Defendants‟ actions.  

Congressional District 1 

372. Congressional District 1 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district drawn 

without regard for communities of interest.  It encompasses only five (5) whole counties and 

parts of 19 counties. 

373. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Congressional District 

1 is shown below. 

 

 

374. One measure of the non-compact and irrational shape  of District 1 is the length of 

its perimeter.  Based on Defendants‟ calculations, the length of the perimeter of District 1 is 

1319.43 miles, or approximately the distance from Rocky Mount to Minneapolis. 

375. Race was the predominate factor used by Defendants in constructing District 1.  

Approximately 53% (52.65%) of the voting age population in the District is Black. 
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376. District 1 constitutes an unconstitutional racial classification unless narrowly 

tailored to achieve a compelling interest. 

377. In constructing District 1, Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 1 to 

achieve any compelling interest they may have had, including any compelling interest they may 

have had in complying with Section 5 or Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  They artificially 

inflated the Black voting age population in the district to a level greater than required to comply 

with the Voting Rights Act. 

378. In drawing District 1, Defendants knew that the Black voting age population in 

the 2001 Congressional Redistricting Plan was substantially lower than in their plan:  48.63% in 

the prior plan; 52.65% in the Defendants‟ 2011 plan.  Defendants also knew that in the five 

general election under the 2001 plan, the Black candidate soundly defeated a White candidate.   

In 2002, the Black candidate, Frank Ballance, received 63.73% of the vote.  In 2004, the Black 

candidate, Representative Butterfield, defeated a White candidate 63.97% to 36.02%.  In 2006, 

Representative Butterfield was not opposed.  In 2008 and 2010, Representative Butterfield 

defeated a White candidate by 70.28% to 29.72% and 59.31% to 40.69%, respectively. 

Congressional District 4 

379. Congressional District 4 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district 

beginning in the northwest corner of Alamance County and extending eastward into part of 

Orange County.  From Orange County, one branch of the district continues eastward into a part 

of the southern part of Durham County, and then continues further east, gobbling up a vaguely 

sea-horse shaped part of central Wake County.  The other branch of the district extends 

southward from Orange County into Chatham County, exiting Chatham into Harnett County at a 

point contiguous only in some abstract mathematical sense.  From this point the district extends 
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further south, dividing Harnett County into two (2) parts, finally ending in the middle of 

Cumberland County.  It is drawn without regard for communities of interest.  

380. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Congressional District 

4 is shown below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

381. District 4‟s tortured path does not encompass all of any county, consisting instead 

of parts of 7 counties. 
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382. In forming this district, Defendants split precincts in Alamance, Cumberland, 

Harnett and Wake Counties. 

383. No coherent or recognizable communities of interest are enclosed within District 

4. 

384. There is no lawful or rational explanation for the shape of District 4. 

Congressional District 10 and 11 

385. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Congressional 

Districts 10 and 11 is shown below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

386. North Carolina‟s Mountains constitute a separate and distinct community of 

interest. 

387. Asheville is the historic, economic, and cultural heart of North Carolina‟s 

Mountains. 

388. The Congressional Redistricting Plan arbitrarily and capriciously separates 

Asheville from the Mountains by extending District 10, a district otherwise located entirely in 

the Piedmont, to encompass Asheville and by excluding Asheville from District 11, which is 

located entirely within the Mountains. 
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389. Never in the history of the State has a redistricting plan separated Asheville from 

the Mountains. 

390. There is no lawful or rational basis for separating Asheville from the Mountains. 

Congressional District 12 

391. Congressional District 12 is a non-compact and irrationally shaped district drawn 

without regard for communities of interest.  It encompasses narrow pieces of six counties 

(Mecklenburg, Cabarrus, Rowan, Davidson, Forsyth, and Guilford counties) and no whole 

counties. 

392. A true and accurate copy of the Defendants‟ map depicting Congressional District 

12 is shown below. 
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393. Race was the predominate factor used by Defendants in drawing District 12.  

Approximately 51% (50.66%) of the District‟s voting age population is Black. 

394. District 12 is a racial classification unconstitutional unless narrowly tailored to 

serve a compelling interest. 

395. In constructing District 12, Defendants failed to narrowly tailor District 12 to 

meet any compelling interest they may have had, including any interest they may have had in 
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meeting the requirements of Sections 5 or 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  They artificially inflated 

the Black voting age population in the district to a level greater than required to meet the 

requirements of the Voting Rights Act. 

396. In drawing District 12, Defendants knew that the Black voting age population in 

the 2001 Congressional Redistricting Plan was substantially lower than in their plan:  43.77%  in 

the 2001 plan; 50.66% in their plan.  Defendants also knew that in the five general election held 

under the 2001 plan, the Black candidate, Representative Watt, soundly defeated his opponent.  

At the 2002, 2004, 2006, 2008, and 2010 general elections, Representative Watt received 

65.34%, 66.82%, 67.60%, 71.55%, and 63.88% of the vote, respectively. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 2 of the State Constitution, 

State House Redistricting Plan) 

397. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if set forth fully 

herein. 

398. Article I of the North Carolina Constitution establishes “the great, general and 

essential principles of liberty and free government.”  Among those “great, general and essential 

principles” is that “all government of right originates from the people, is founded upon their will 

only, and is instituted solely for the good of the whole.”  N.C. Const. art. I, § 2 (emphasis 

supplied). 

399. Article II, § 5 of the Constitution imposed a duty on Defendants to redistrict the 

120 seats in the House of Representatives following the 2010 census. 

400. Article I, § 2 of the Constitution forbids the Defendants from performing that duty 

in a manner not “instituted solely for the good of the whole.” 
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401. Defendants unnecessarily divided precincts, communities of interest, and towns in 

enacting 2011 S.L. 404, particularly in drawing House Districts 4, 7, 10, 12, 21, 24, 25, 29, 31, 

33, 34, 38, 42, 43, 45, 47, 48, 57, 58, 60, 66, 75, 92, 99, 102, and 107. 

402. Absent some compelling reason, dividing counties, towns, communities of 

interest, and precincts in redistricting the House of Representatives is not solely for the good of 

the whole. 

403. In unnecessarily dividing counties, towns, and precincts in the enactment of 2011 

S.L. 404, Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 2 of the Constitution. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 2 of the State Constitution, 

State Senate Redistricting Plan) 

404. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if set forth fully 

herein. 

405. Article I of the North Carolina Constitution establishes “the great, general and 

essential principles of liberty and free government.”  Among those “great, general and essential 

principles” is that all government of right originates from the people, is founded on their will 

only, and is instituted solely for the good of the whole.”  N.C. Const. art. I, § 2. 

406. Article II, § 3 of the Constitution imposed on Defendants the duty to redistrict the 

50 seats in the State Senate following the 2010 census. 

407. Article I, § 2 of the Constitution forbids the Defendants from performing that duty 

in a manner not “instituted solely for the good of the whole.” 

408. Defendants unnecessarily divided precincts, communities of interest, and towns in 

enacting 2011 S.L. 402, particularly in drawing Senate Districts 4, 5, 7, 14, 19, 20, 21, 27, 28, 

32, 37, 38, 40, and 41. 



99 

409. Absent some compelling reason, dividing counties, towns, communities of 

interest, and precincts in redistricting the Senate is not solely for the good of the whole. 

410. In unnecessarily dividing counties, towns, communities of interest and precincts 

in the enactment of 2011 S.L. 402, Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 2 of 

the Constitution. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 2 of the State Constitution, 

Congressional Redistricting Plan) 

411. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if set forth fully 

herein. 

412. Federal law (2 U.S.C. §§ 22a and 2c) grants authority to the Defendants to 

redistrict North Carolina‟s 13 seats in the United States House of Representatives. 

413. Article I, § 2 of the North Carolina Constitution has not been superseded by any 

Act of Congress, and it forbids the Defendants from redistricting North Carolina‟s seats in 

Congress in a manner not “instituted solely for the good of the whole.” 

414. Absent some compelling reason, dividing counties, towns, communities of 

interest, and precincts in redistricting North Carolina‟s seats in the United States House of 

Representatives is not solely for the good of the whole. 

415. In unnecessarily dividing counties, towns, communities of interest, and precincts 

in enacting 2011 S.L. 403, Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 2 of the North 

Carolina Constitution. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 2 of the State Constitution, 

Congressional Redistricting Plan) 

416. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if set forth fully 

herein. 
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417. Federal law (2 U.S.C. §§ 22a and 2c) grants authority to the Defendants to 

redistrict North Carolina‟s 13 seats in the United States House of Representatives. 

418. Article I, § 2 of the North Carolina Constitution has not been superseded by any 

Act of Congress, and it forbids the Defendants from redistricting North Carolina‟s seats in 

Congress in a manner not “instituted solely for the good of the whole.” 

419. Assigning Asheville to a district separate from other Mountain communities is not 

solely for the good of the whole. 

420. In assigning Asheville to District 11, Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under 

Article I, § 2 of the North Carolina Constitution. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution, 

State House Redistricting Plan) 

421. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

422. One of the “great, general and essential principles of free liberty and free 

government” established by Article I of the Constitution and enjoyed by the Plaintiffs is not to be 

“disseized” of their “liberties or privileges . . . or in any manner deprived of [their] life, liberty or 

property, but by the law of the land.”  N.C. Const. art. I, § 19. 

423. Article I, § 19 of the Constitution forbids Defendants from enacting legislation 

that is arbitrary or capricious and does not have a rational relationship to a valid objective. 

424. Defendants unnecessarily divided precincts, communities of interest, and towns in 

enacting 2011 S.L. 404, particularly in drawing House Districts 4, 7, 10, 12, 21, 24, 25, 29, 31, 

33, 34, 38, 42, 43, 45, 47, 48, 57, 58, 60, 66, 75, 92, 99, 102, and 107. 
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425. Absent some compelling reason, dividing precincts, communities of interest,  

towns, and counties in the formation of House districts is arbitrary or capricious and does not 

bear a rational relationship to any valid objective. 

426. In unnecessarily dividing precincts, towns  and counties in the enactment of 2011 

S.L. 402,  the Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 19 of the Constitution. 

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution, 

Senate Redistricting Plan) 

427. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

428. One of the “great, general and essential principles of free liberty and free 

government” established by Article I of the Constitution and enjoyed by the Plaintiffs is not to be 

“disseized” of their “liberties or privileges . . . or in any manner deprived of [their] life, liberty or 

property, but by the law of the land.”  N.C. Const. art. I, § 19. 

429. Article I, § 19 of the Constitution forbids Defendants from enacting legislation 

that is arbitrary or capricious and does not have a rational relationship to a valid objective. 

430. Defendants unnecessarily divided precincts, communities of interest, and towns in 

enacting 2011 S.L. 402, particularly in drawing Senate Districts 4, 5, 7, 14, 19, 20, 21, 27, 28, 

32, 37, 38, 40, and 41. 

431. Absent some compelling reason, dividing precincts, communities of interest, 

towns, and counties in the formation of Senate districts is arbitrary or capricious and does not 

bear a rational relationship to any valid objective. 

432. In unnecessarily dividing precincts, communities of interest, towns and counties 

in the enactment of 2011 S.L. 404, the Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 19 

of the Constitution. 
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SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution, 

Congressional Redistricting Plan) 

433. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if set forth fully 

herein. 

434. Article I, § 19 of the North Carolina Constitution has not been superseded by the 

federal law and forbids Defendants from redistricting North Carolina‟s seats in Congress in a 

manner that is arbitrary or capricious and not rationally related to a valid objective. 

435. Absent some compelling reason, unnecessarily dividing counties, towns, 

communities of interest, and precincts in redistricting North Carolina‟s seats in the United States 

House of Representatives is arbitrary or capricious and not rationally related to a valid objective. 

436. In unnecessarily dividing counties, towns, communities of interest and precincts 

in the enactment of 2011 S.L. 403, Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 19 of 

the North Carolina Constitution. 

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution, 

Congressional Redistricting Plan) 

437. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if set forth fully 

herein. 

438. Article I, § 19 of the North Carolina Constitution has not been superseded by the 

federal law and forbids Defendants from redistricting North Carolina‟s seats in Congress in a 

manner that is arbitrary or capricious and not rationally related to a valid objective. 

439. Assigning Asheville to a district outside the Mountains is arbitrary and capricious 

act unrelated to any valid objective. 

440. In assigning Asheville to District 11, Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under 

Article 1, § 19 of the Constitution. 
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NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article VI, § 1 and Article I, § 19 of the  

State Constitution, House Redistricting Plan) 

441. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

442. Article VI, Section 1 of the North Carolina Constitution guarantees citizens over 

age 18 the right to vote and Article I, § 19 of the North Carolina Constitution prohibits 

Defendants from infringing that fundamental right except for compelling reasons narrowly 

tailored. 

443. The House Redistricting Plan assigns approximately 1,800,000 voters to 395 split 

precincts.  Assigning these voters to split precincts substantially burdens their right to vote. 

444. No compelling reason supports this burdening of the right to vote. 

445. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article VI, § 1 and Article I, § 19 of 

the North Carolina Constitution in assigning voters to split precincts. 

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article VI, § 1 and Article I, § 19 of the  

State Constitution, Senate Redistricting Plan) 

446. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

447. Article VI, § 1 of the North Carolina Constitution guarantees citizens over age 18 

the right to vote, and Article I, § 19 of the North Carolina Constitution prohibits Defendants from 

infringing that fundamental right except for compelling reasons narrowly tailored. 

448. The Senate Redistricting Plan assigns approximately 1,300,000 voters to 257 split 

precincts.  Assigning these voters to split precincts substantially burdens their right to vote. 

449. No compelling reason supports this burdening of the right to vote. 
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450. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article VI, § 1 and Article I, § 19 of 

the North Carolina Constitution in assigning voters to split precincts. 

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article II, § 5 of the State Constitution, 

House Redistricting Plan) 

451. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

452. Article I, § 5 of the State Constitution provides:  “No county shall be divided in 

the formation of a representative district.” 

453. Defendants divided 49 counties in the formation of representative districts in 2011 

S.L. 404.  No lawful or rational reason supported dividing 49 counties in constructing 2011 S.L. 

404. 

454. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article II, § 5 of the Constitution in 

dividing 49 counties in enacting 2011 S.L. 404. 

TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article II, § 3 of the State Constitution, 

Senate Redistricting Plan) 

455. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

456. Article I, § 3 of the State Constitution provides:  “No county shall be divided in 

the formation of a senate district.” 

457. Defendants divided 19 counties in the formation of senate districts in 2011 S.L. 

402.  No lawful or rational reason supported dividing 19 counties in constructing 2011 S.L. 402. 

458. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article II, § 5 of the Constitution in 

dividing 19 counties in enacting 2011 S.L. 402. 
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THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article II, § 5 of the State Constitution, 

House Districts 4, 10, 25, 66) 

459. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

460. Article II, § 5 of the State Constitution provides:  “No county shall be divided in 

the formation of a representative district.” 

461. House Districts 4, 10, 25, and 66 all include parts of multiple counties. 

462. Dividing these counties was not required by the Voting Rights Act. 

463. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article II, § 5 of the State 

Constitution in drawing House Districts 4, 10, 25, and 66. 

FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article II, § 3 of the State Constitution, 

Senate District 7) 

464. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

465. Article II, § 3 of the State Constitution provides:  “No county shall be divided in 

the formation of a senate district.” 

466. Senate District 7  include parts of multiple counties. 

467. Dividing these counties was not required by any federal law. 

468. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article II, § 5 of the State 

Constitution in drawing Senate District 7. 

FIFTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article II, § 5 of the State Constitution, 

House Districts 7, 12, 21, 24, and 48) 

469. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 
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470. Article II, § 5 of the Constitution provides:  No county shall be divided in the 

formation of a representative district.” 

471. House Districts 7, 12, 21, 24, and 48 all include parts of multiple counties.  

Defendants ostensibly divided counties in drawing these districts for the purpose of complying 

with the requirement of the federal Voting Rights Act.  Compliance with the Voting Rights Act 

did not require dividing these counties. 

472. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article II, § 5 of the State 

Constitution in drawing House Districts 7, 12, 21, 24, and 48. 

SIXTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article II, § 3 of the State Constitution, 

Senate Districts 4, 5, 20 and 21 ) 

473. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

474. Article II, § 3 of the Constitution provides:  No county shall be divided in the 

formation of a senate district.” 

475. Senate Districts 4, 5, 20 and 21 include parts of multiple counties.  Defendants 

ostensibly divided counties in drawing these districts for the purpose of complying with the 

requirement of the federal Voting Rights Act.  Compliance with the Voting Rights Act did not 

require dividing these counties. 

476. Defendants violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article II, § 3 of the State 

Constitution in drawing Senate Districts 4, 5, 20, and 21. 

SEVENTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 120-2.2, 

State House and State Senate) 

477. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if set forth fully 

herein. 
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478. G.S. § 120-2.2 forbids the General Assembly from dividing any precincts in 

redistricting the House and Senate unless and until the United States Department of Justice or the 

federal courts  fails to preclear the House plan or Senate plan.  That statute further provides that 

in the event a House plan or Senate plan, the General Assembly “may only divide the minimum 

number of  precincts necessary to obtain preclearance.” 

479. The 2011 Senate Redistricting Plan divides 164 precincts in six counties not 

covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act.  Those six counties are:  Durham, Forsyth, 

Johnston, Mecklenburg, New Hannover, and Wake. 

480. The 2011 House Redistricting Plan divides 171 precincts in 24 counties not 

covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act.  Those counties are:  Alamance, Brunswick, 

Buncombe, Burke, Cabarrus, Catawba, Davidson, Duplin, Durham, Forsyth, Haywood, 

Henderson, Johnston, Mecklenburg, Montgomery, Moore, New Hanover, Orange, Randolph, 

Richmond, Rowan, Sampson, Wake, and Wilkes. 

481. Because the United States Department of Justice failed to preclear G.S. § 120-2.2, 

that statute is not effective in the 40 counties covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act.  

G.S. § 126.2.2, however, remains effective in the 60 counties not covered by Section 5. 

482. In dividing precincts in counties not covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights 

Act in both the 2011 House and Senate redistricting Plans, Defendants violated G.S. § 120-2.2. 

EIGHTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 163- 261.2, 

Congressional Redistricting Plan) 

483. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged. 

484. G.S. § 163-261.2 forbids the General Assembly from dividing any precincts in 

redistricting North Carolina‟s seats in the United States House of Representatives unless and 

until the United States fails to preclear that plan.  That statute further provides that in the event of 
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denial of precedence, the General Assembly “may only divide the minimum number of precincts 

necessary to obtain” preclearance. 

485. Because the United States Department of Justice failed to preclear G.S. § 163- 

201.2, that statute is not effective in the 40 counties covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights 

Act.  G.S. § 163-201.2, however, remains in effect for the 60 counties not covered by Section 5. 

486. The 2011 Congressional Redistricting Plan divided 17 precincts in 8 counties not 

covered by Section 5.  Those counties are:  Alamance, Buncombe, Catawba, Davidson, Iredell, 

New Hanover, Randolph, and Wake. 

487. In dividing precincts in counties not covered by Section 5 of the Voting Rights 

Act, Defendants violated G.S. § 163-201.2. 

NINETEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution, 

House Districts 7, 12, 21, 24, 29, 31, 33, 48, 99, and 107) 

488. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

489. Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution forbids racial classification unless 

narrowly drawn to serve a compelling interest. 

490.  Race was the predominant factor in the drawing of House Districts 7, 12, 21, 24, 

29, 31, 33, 48, 99, and 107 and those districts thus constitute racial classifications.  Defendants 

did not narrowly draw these districts to serve any compelling interest they may have had, 

including any compelling interests they may have had in complying with the federal Voting 

Rights Act. 

491. Defendants‟ failure violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 19 of the State 

Constitution. 
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TWENTIETH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution, 

Senate Districts 4, 5, 14, 20, 21, 28, 38, and 40) 

492. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

493. Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution forbids racial classification unless 

narrowly drawn to serve a compelling interest. 

494. Race was the predominant factor in the drawing of Senate Districts 4, 5, 14, 20, 

21, 28, 38, and 40, and those districts thus constitute racial classifications.  Defendants did not 

narrowly draw these districts to serve any compelling interest they may have had under the 

federal Voting Rights Act. 

495. Defendants‟ failure violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 19 of the State 

Constitution. 

TWENTY-FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution, 

Congressional Districts 1 and 12 ) 

496. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

497. Article I, § 19 of the State Constitution forbids racial classification unless 

narrowly drawn to serve a compelling interest. 

498. Race was the predominant factor in the drawing of Congressional Districts 1 and 

12, and those districts thus constitute racial classifications.  Defendants did not narrowly draw 

these districts to serve any compelling interest they may have had under the federal Voting 

Rights Act. 

499. Defendants‟ failure violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under Article I, § 19 of the State 

Constitution. 
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TWENTY-SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, 

House Districts 7, 12, 21, 24, 29, 31, 33, 48, 99, and 107) 

500. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

501. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution forbids racial 

classifications unless narrowly tailored to serve a compelling interest. 

502. Race was the predominate factor in the drawing of House Districts 7, 12, 21, 24, 

29, 31, 33, 48, 99, and 107, and those districts thus constitute racial classifications. 

503. Defendants did not narrowly draw these districts to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in meeting the 

requirements of the federal Voting Rights Act. 

504. Defendants‟ failure violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under the Fourteenth Amendment 

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

TWENTY-THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, 

Senate Districts 4, 5, 14, 20, 21, 28, 38, and 40) 

505. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

506. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution forbids racial 

classifications unless narrowly tailored to serve a compelling interest. 

507. Race was the predominant factor in the drawing of Senate Districts 4, 5, 14, 20, 

21, 28, 38, and 40, and those districts thus constitute racial classifications. 

508. Defendants did not narrowly draw these districts to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in meeting the 

requirements of the federal Voting Rights Act. 
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509. Defendants‟ failure violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under the Fourteenth Amendment 

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

TWENTY-FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, 

Congressional Districts 1 and 12) 

510. All of the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are realleged as if fully set forth 

herein. 

511. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution forbids racial 

classifications unless narrowly tailored to serve a compelling interest. 

512. Race was the predominate factor in the drawing of Congressional Districts 1 and 

12, and those districts thus constitute racial classifications. 

513. Defendants did not narrowly draw these districts to meet any compelling interest 

they may have had, including any compelling interest they may have had in meeting the 

requirements of the federal Voting Rights Act. 

514. Defendants‟ failure violated Plaintiffs‟ rights under the Fourteenth Amendment 

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that the Court: 

1. Declare that the State Senate Redistricting Plan (2011 S.L. 402) and  the State 

House Redistricting Plan (2011 S.L. 404) unnecessarily divide counties in violation of Article I, 

§§ 3 and 5 of the North Carolina Constitution. 

2. Declare that the State Senate Redistricting Plan,  the State House Redistricting 

Plan and the Congressional redistricting Plan (2011 S.L. 403) were not enacted for the “good of 

the whole,” in violation of Article I, § 2 of the North Carolina Constitution. 
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3. Declare that the State Senate Redistricting Plan, the State House Redistricting 

Plan, and the Congressional Redistricting Plan constitute arbitrary and capricious legislation in 

violation of Article I, § 19 of the North Carolina Constitution. 

4. Declare that the Senate Redistricting Plan and the House Redistricting Plan 

abridge the right of citizens to vote in violation of Article I, § 19 and Article VI, § 1 of the North 

Carolina Constitution. 

5. Declare that the Senate Redistricting Plan and the House Redistricting Plan 

abridge the right of citizens to vote on account of their race in violation of Article I, § 19 and 

Article VI, § 1 of the North Carolina Constitution and in violation of the Fourteenth and 

Fifteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

6. Declare that the State Senate Redistricting Plan, the State House Redistricting 

Plan, and the Congressional Redistricting Plan establish racial classifications in violation of the 

equal protection provisions of Article I, § 19 of the North Carolina Constitution. 

7. Declare that the State Senate Redistricting Plan, the State House Redistricting 

Plan, and the Congressional Redistricting Plan establish racial classification in violations of the 

Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

8. Declare that the Senate Redistricting Plan and the House Redistricting Plan divide 

precincts in violations of G.S. § 163-132.1. 

9. Declare that the Congressional Redistricting Plan divides precincts in violation of 

G.S. § 163-132.1B. 

10. Issue a permanent injunction enjoining the Defendants, their agents, officers, and 

employees, from enforcing or giving any effect to the State Senate Redistricting Plan, the State 

House Redistricting Plan, and the Congressional Redistricting Plan, including enjoining the 




